IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



MAY 3 1984

CLERK, SUPREME, COURT By_9 Chief Deputy Glerk

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 64,391

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 1983 the Grand Jury for Putnam County, Florida returned a four count indictment accusing JOEL DALE WRIGHT (hereafter Appellant) of committing first degree murder [violation of Section 782.04, Fla. Stat.], sexual battery [violation of Section 794.011(3), Fla. Stat.], burglary of a dwelling [violation of Section 810.02(3), Fla. Stat.] and, grand theft-second degree [violation of Section 812.014, Fla. Stat.], (R 5-6).¹ The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant (R 10), and Appellant entered a plea of not guilty as to each allegation contained in the indictment (R 35-37).

¹(R) Refers to the Record on Appeal of the instant cause, Supreme Court Case No. 64,391.

- 1 -

A notice of alibi was filed by Appellant (R 57-58), and the following pretrial motions, among others, were resolved by the trial court as follows:

Appellant's Motion To Suppress Pretrial Statement (R 64-65, 156) was denied following a hearing occurring on August 12, 1983 (R 487-612). The statement sought to be suppressed, made by Appellant, was to the effect that "if I confess to this I will die in the electric chair, if I don't talk I stand a chance of living." (R 64). The basis of the suppression was that the statement was an invocation of the right to remain silent, and as such could not be commented upon. A further basis was that the State's intentional and deliberate act of not recording the interrogation of Appellant, whereby the context of the statement could be determined, also rendered the statement inadmissible (R 601-606). The court found as a matter of law that the statement was not an invocation of the right to remain silent (R 141), and further found that competent substantial evidence existed to show that the statement was voluntarily made (R 366). The introduction of the statement formed the basis of a motion for mistrial, which motion was denied (R 2415-2416).

The State filed a Notice Of Intent To Use Similar Fact Evidence (R 152), which intended use was objected to by Appellant (R 155). Following a hearing (R 612-620), the court overruled Appellant's objection to introduction of evidence concerning Appellant's burglary of the murder victim's home approximately a month prior to the murder (R 367). The objection to such testimony was timely renewed at trial prior to

- 2 -

the testimony being adduced, and again overruled (R 2383-2387). Introduction of the testimony formed the basis of a motion for mistrial, which motion was denied (R 2401-2402).

The State filed a motion in limine to preclude Appellant from mentioning to the jury that he had successfully passed a polygraph test concerning the murder of MS. LIMA PAIGE SMITH (R 373). Appellant argued that the election by the State to administer the polygraph to Appellant and other suspects of the murder, the sole exception being Charles Westberry, should be admissible notwithstanding that the results of such tests were not (R 459-463). Appellant was instructed by the court, however, not to mention to the jury that one of the police officers who interrogated Appellant was a polygraphist (R 462).

The matter proceeded to a twelve member jury trial in the Circuit Court for Putnam County, the Honorable Robert R. Perry presiding (R 846-2925). During the trial, at the conclusion of the State's case, the State received an anonymous phone call directing them to possibly inculpatory evidence (R 2322-2325). After a witness for the defense arrived from out of state to attend the trial in order to explain and identify the evidence [a glass piggy bank decanter] the State decided not to use the evidence (R 2345).

However, profferred testimony of a defense witness, discovered after the close of the evidence but prior to any argument or instructions of law being given the jury, was ruled inadmissible due to the prejudice accruing to the State (R 2677-2678) The jury returned guilty verdicts as to each offense

- 3 -

charged, to wit: first degree murder, sexual battery, burglary and grand theft - second degree (R 2910-2917, 688).

The sentencing phase of trial (R 2929-3013) produced a nine to three recommendation in favor of death (R 695, 3008). Judge Perry followed the recommendation, finding no mitigating circumstances and four aggravating circumstances, to wit: (1) murder committed while in the commission of a burglary, (2) murder committed for purpose of preventing lawful arrest, (3) murder especially heinous, atrocious or cruel and (4) murder committed in cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R 707-715, 3049-3076).

The court further adjudicated Appellant guilty of sexual battery, burglary, and theft (R 715-716), and imposed respective sentences of ninety-nine years imprisonment with jurisdiction retained over one-third and with credit to be received for 158 days time served, a consecutive fifteen year term of imprisonment with jurisdiction retained over one-third, and a consecutive five year term of imprisonment (R 717-721).

A Motion For New Trial was filed by Appellant (R 700-704), which motion was denied September 21, 1983 (R 706). A Notice Of Appeal was timely filed October 14, 1983 (R 730) and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant for the purpose of his appeal (R 728-729, 738). This brief follows.

- 4 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

LIMA PAIGE SMITH was a seventy-five year old school teacher who resided by herself in a secluded old house near Third Avenue in Palatka, Florida (R 795-800, 1583). Ms. Smith's brother lived nearby. On Friday morning, February 5, 1983 the brother took Ms. Smith grocery shopping, as was their usual practice (R 1583-1586). The pair returned home around 1:00 p.m., and Ms. Smith began carrying the groceries from her automobile into her home as the brother walked on to his house (R 1586). The brother did not assist in carrying in the groceries because Ms. Smith would not permit anyone to enter her home, probably due to the extreme untidiness thereof (R 803-807, 1586). This was the last time she was seen alive.

The next evening Ms. Smith's half-nude body was discovered amid the trash between her bed and bedroom wall (R 812, 1587-1591, 1596-1601). She had been repeatedly stabbed in the neck with a pocketknife-like instrument, and had died as a result thereof (R 822, 1815-1822). Dead sperm was present in the vagina of Ms. Smith, the vagina receiving serious injury while Ms. Smith was still alive (R 1820-1821, 2001). Insufficient sperm was recovered upon which to perform an A-B-O blood grouping analysis (R 2006).

An expert forensic pathologist opined at trial that the injuries to Ms. Smith had been inflicted from the front by a right-handed person (R 1834, 1848-1849), and that though inconclusive, the best estimate of the time of death was between 5:00 p.m. and 9:00 p.m. on February 5, 1983 (R 1853).

- 5 -

On February 5, 1983, Appellant resided with his parents, whose home neighbored Ms. Smith's (R 1969). That afternoon Appellant and two friends transported scaffolding from a worksite to Stokes' Landing (R 1863-1865, 2530). Appellant was thereafter dropped off at his parents' home around 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. in order for him to clean up, and was then picked up around 8:00 p.m. in order to attend a fish fry/poker party at his employer's house (R 1866-1868, 1895-1898). Some drinking ensued, and Appellant won approximately \$30.00 in the poker game (R 1869, 1881, 1896, 2532). Appellant was taken home around 1:00 a.m. Sunday morning (R 1898-1899), but was unable to get in because his parents had locked the doors and gone to bed (R 1970, 2532-2534). Appellant walked to Charles Westberry's house (R 2534). From 1:00 to 3:00 a.m. dogs barking in the neighborhood woke up several of Ms. Smith's neighbors, who investigated outside of their homes but saw nothing unusual (R 1970-1971, 2299-2302).

Mr. Jackie Bennett, also one of Ms. Smith's neighbors, was at a local "hangout" when he observed three strangers walk down Third Avenue [the victim's street] between 10:00 p.m. and 12:00 p.m. on Saturday evening and later seen by him around 3:00 a.m. (R 2484-2488). Mr. Bennett did not observe Appellant walking toward Charles Westberry's house (R 2493-2494). However, proffered testimony of Ms. Kathy Waters, which testimony was excluded, established that a person similar in appearance to Appellant was walking away from Third Avenue on State Road 19 toward Charles Westberry's residence around 1:00 a.m.; at the

- 6 -

same time three suspicious acting persons were congregating on Third Avenue in the shadow of a big oak tree near the Smith , residence (R 2613-2619, 2624, 2633-2636, 2654-2657).

Appellant, who is <u>left-handed</u> (R 2477, 2480), testified at trial that he walked to Charles Westberry's house after being locked out of his parents' house, ariving at Charles' home around 1:00 a.m. on Sunday morning (R 2534-2535). After being let in by Charles, Appellant went to sleep on a couch in the living room, and was awakened the next morning by Charles' young nephew between the hours of 6:30 and 8:00 a.m. (R 2534-2537, 1945-1946, 1953-1955).

INDEPENDENT EVIDENCE

The evidence of Appellant's guilt consisted <u>solely</u> of the following:

The police compiled eleven fingerprint cards filled with latent prints discovered in Ms. Smith's residence, but of the eleven cards <u>only two prints</u> were identified (R 2051). One fingerprint belonged to Detective Douglas, the other belonged to Appellant (R 2038-2039, 2051). Appellant's fingerprint was recovered from a portable burner plate found in Ms. Smith's bedroom (R 2039, 819-820). The State presented evidence showing that Appellant had entered Ms. Smith's residence approximately a month before the murder (R 2390-2392, 2396). The fingerprint "quite possibly" could have remained intact upon the stove for more than one year (R 2057).

- 7 -

Hair specimens obtained from the person and clothing of Ms. Smith were inconsistent with hair specimens obtained from Appellant (R 2079-2080, 2094-2095). A combing of the pubic region of Ms. Smith produced a pubic hair, other than Ms. Smith's, demonstrating "some" characteristics of Caucasian pubic hair, but the hair was later determined not to be suitable for comparison with the standards supplied by Appellant (R 2094).

Appellant stated to an interrogating police officer "[i]f I confess to this I'll die in the electric chair; if I don't talk I stand some chance of living" (R 2351).

Appellant observed to a friend prior to the murder that "It is getting about time for [Ms. Smith] to die", which statement was viewed by the friend as a comment upon the elderly and frail condition of the victim (R 2380-2382).

TESTIMONY OF CHARLES WESTBERRY

Charles Westberry testified that Appellant came to his trailer after daylight Sunday morning (R 2132) and, after entering the living room of the trailer, Appellant allegedly announced that he had killed Ms. Smith (R 2132). Charles, not wishing to be overheard, had Appellant accompany him outside (R 2133).

They sat in Charles' inoperable pickup truck because it was raining (R 2133). Appellant allegedly told Charles that he (Appellant) had attended a party at T. L. Geck's house earlier on Saturday evening, and that upon returning home Appellant thought he observed Ms. Smith asleep in her automobile (R 2134).

- 8 -

Appellant entered Ms. Smith's house through a rear window and found her pocketbook (R 2134). Appellant obtained money from the purse and was in the act of wiping off the purse when he saw Ms. Smith standing in the hallway (R 2135). Appellant allegedly stated that he then found a knife and "cut her throat" (R 2135), discovered a jar with some change inside, found a rag and wiped off everything touched, proceeded outside and wiped the window down, and then obtained a rake and raked the ground under the window to cover up any footprints (R 2135-2136).

Allegedly Appellant, while still sitting in the pickup truck, pulled money out of his pockets and counted it, thereafter giving most of it to Charles (R 2137-2138). Charles entered the trailer and obtained keys to his girlfriend's automobile (R 2138, 1925-1926), and Appellant and Charles drove to a "7-11" store to get coffee (R 2142). Charles at this time noticed a blood stain under Appellant's ear and had him wipe it off (R 2142). They next drove past the victim's house on their way to purchase cigarettes from a different store (R 2144). Returning to Charles' home, Appellant laid down on the couch and Charles went to a back bedroom (R 2146). Charles arose in a few minutes, however, because his nephew was awake and making noise, but Appellant remained on the couch (R 2146). When later asked by Charles, Appellant swore he did not rape Ms. Smith (R 2136).

While crying uncontrollably and after suffering from nightmares (R 2173, 2476), Charles related substantially this same story weeks later to his ex-wife, (R 2169-2170), and thereafter Westberry's ex-wife notified the police (R 2476).

- 9 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR AND VIOLATED THE SIXTH AND FOUR-TEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BY RESTRICT-ING APPELLANT'S RIGHT OF CROSS-EXAMINATION.

The right of cross-examination is included in the Sixth Amendment's guarantee of a defendant's right "to be confronted with the witnesses against him", and said right is applicable to the states pursuant to the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Smith v. Illinois</u>, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S.Ct. 748, 19 L.Ed.2d 956 (1968); <u>Pointer v. Texas</u>, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965).

> It is the essence of a fair trial that reasonable latitude be given the crossexaminer, even though he is unable to state to the court what facts a reasonable cross-examination might develop. Prejudice ensues from a denial of the opportunity to place a witness in his proper setting and put the weight of his testimony and his credibility to a test, without which the jury cannot fairly appraise them... To say that prejudice can be established only by showing that the cross-examination, if pursued, would necessarily have brought out facts tending to discredit the testimony in chief, is to deny a substantial right and withdraw one of the safeguards essential to a fair trial ...

<u>Alford v. United States</u>, 282 U.S. 687, 692-694, 51 S.Ct. 218, 75 L.Ed. 624, 627-629 (1931). Similarly, Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution provides an accused the right "to confront at trial adverse witnesses." The free exercise of this right is the mainstay of the adversary system of truth finding. As held by this Court in <u>Coxwell v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1978), "Where a criminal defendant in a capital case, while exercising his Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him, inquires of a key prosecution witness regarding matters which are both germane to that witness' testimony on direct examination and plausibly relevant to the defense, an abuse of discretion by the trial judge in curtailing that inquiry may easily constitute reversible error." <u>Id</u>. at 152.

With these principles firmly in mind, Appellant submits that the trial court unreasonably restricted Appellant's right of cross-examination:

Pathologist

The pathologist testified at trial that the time of death of Ms. Smith was different than previously determined, the change due to information as to the eating and sleeping habits of Ms. Smith later received from unspecified sources (R 1824-1827). On cross-examination the court would not permit defense counsel to inquire of the pathologist concerning the sources of information used to determine the new time of death unless the questions were predicated upon prior testimony adduced at trial (R 1837-1838). Appellant submits that such a restriction was improper, and that Appellant was entitled to establish the sources of the doctor's opinion as to the time of death of Ms. Smith, notwithstanding that the "sources" themselves did not testify at trial.

- 11 -

Kenneth Goodson

On direct examination, the State established that Kenneth Goodson had known Charles Westberry ten or twelve years and had seen him between six and ten o'clock on the evening of the murder (R 1962), but Goodson did not recall seeing Appellant that evening (R 1963). On cross-examination, defense counsel sought to develop how well the witness knew Appellant by attempting to inquire about an incident occurring in March (R 1964). An objection by the State based upon "beyond the scope of direct" was sustained by the trial court (R 1964-1965). Appellant respectfully submits that the ruling unduly restricted the inquiry to February 5th or 6th, and thus unfairly deprived Appellant of any opportunity to develop that witness's bias, credibility and/or knowledge of Appellant. <u>Cf. Hannah v. State</u>, 432 So.2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

Walter Perkins

Deputy Perkins, an eight year veteran of the Putnam County Sheriff's Office, participated in the arrest and interrogation of Appellant (R 2349, 2357, 2361). It was this officer's practice <u>not</u> to make any contemporaneous record of an interrogation of a suspect and it was this officer to whom Appellant allegedly stated, "If I confess to this, I will die in the electric chair. If I don't talk I stand a chance of living" (R 2351, 2363). The officers memory as to the content of the unrecorded interrogation had decreased drastically, in that the above statement was the only part of the interrogation recalled

- 12 -

at trial by the deputy (Cf. R 547-548) On cross-examination, Appellant asked the deputy whether "the ends that you seek to gain justify whatever means you have to employ; is that correct?" (R 2357). A State objection was immediately sustained (R 22357). The deputy was similarly asked if any proof existed whereby the context of Appellant's statement could be determined, an objection to which question was sustained (R 2370). Appellant submits that these questions of a trained police officer who deliberately does not record the interrogation of a first degree murder suspect were proper and should have been allowed, in that the questions go straight to the officer's credibility. Appellant had the right to have the jury observe the officer's demeanor in answering questions that ask if the officer was lying or being "selective" in his recall (R 2359), especially where the record shows that police previously lied under oath about whether a plan existed to arrest Appellant (Cf. R 507, 528, 541-542, 549-550).

Charles Westberry

Charles Westberry, the key witness for the State, was asked by defense counsel "[w]ere you also advised by [the prosecutor] or anyone else that by having been charged with the crime of accessory after the fact, later reduced under your contract to compounding a felony, that you have in effect as a matter of law been immunized from ever being prosecuted yourself for the murder of LIMA PAIGE SMITH?" (R 2163). A hearsay objection by the State was sustained (R 2164).

- 13 -

It is evident, however, that the testimony was <u>not</u> being elicited for the truth of the matter contained therein, but only to establish that a statement had been made to motivate Westberry to testify in order to escape culpability for the murder. The State was able to dwell upon the condition of the agreement whereby Westberry agreed to testify "truthfully" (R 2161). Appellant was entitled to fully explore oral representations made by the State that induced Westberry to enter into the agreement, which agreement was introduced into evidence and relied upon by the State (R 2210-2214). This limitation of cross-examination clearly denied Appellant the right to confront his accuser. <u>See Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974); <u>Fulton v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1976); Moreno v. State, 418 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

When Westberry admitted to lying to Detective Douglas, defense counsel inquired of Westberry how to determine which version was the truth (R 2168, 2204). An objection was immediately sustained (R 2168). Similarly, when Westberry added facts to a sworn version previously given the police, defense counsel inquired as to whether such testimony appeared to be "a recent invention" (R 2181). An objection was again sustained (R 2181).

Appellant sought to establish that Westberry and Appellant had routinely stolen metals to sell for huge profit, which line of questioning was objected to by the State on the basis that the testimony was intended only to prove bad character or propensity (R 2186). Appellant disagreed, and argued that

- 14 -

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