IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JOEL DALE WRIGHT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

JUN 20 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 64,391 Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVNETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32014
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

In regard to this testimony, the trial judge instructed the jury as follows:

...Ladies and Gentlemen, the evidence you are about to receive or that portion of that concerning evidence of other crimes allegedly committed by the defendant, will be considered by you for the limited purposes of proving motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or the absence of mistake or accident on the part of the defendant. And you shall consider that evidence only as

it relates to those issues. However, this defendant is not on trial for a crime that is not included in the indictment. (R 2388-2389).

The Appellant conceded that the testimony might be used to show preparation or knowledge, but did not prove motive, opportunity, or intent and was not relevant to the issue of identity (R 2386).

Evidence of collateral offenses is inadmissible if its sole relevancy is to establish bad character or propensity of the accused. Evidence of other crimes is relevant if it casts light on the character of the crime for which the accused is being prosecuted. Such evidence is relevant when it shows either motive, intent, absence of mistake, common scheme or plan, identity, or a system or general pattern of criminality. Williams v. State, 117 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1960). The Appellant did object to the admissibility of this evidence at trial but then conceded that it would be relevant and admissible to show preparation or knowledge (R 2389-2396; 2386). Since the Appellant concedes that the above testimony was admissible for some proper purpose, it cannot be said that the sole relevancy of such testimony was to establish bad character or propensity of the accused or that the accused was injured in any way by the admission of such testimony. It is obvious that such testimony has passed the threshold requirement of "relevancy" enunciated in Williams. The sole issue, on appeal, then, is whether the above limiting instruction given by the trial court allowed the jury too much discretion in applying such testimony to categories enunciated in the limiting instruction.

The Appellant escalates the seriousness of his argument by citing <u>Drake v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1217, 1219, (Fla. 1981), and arguing that, in essence, the prior crime was not relevant as to the identity of the perpetrator of the latter crime, so that reversible error has occurred since the testimony was inadmissible on this issue. The Appellant overlooks, however, the fact that he concedes that this testimony is admissible for an acceptable purpose other than showing bad character. Admissibility of this testimony cannot now be an issue. The issue is the discretion afforded the jury by the limiting instruction.

For the State to address each and every purpose for which such testimony would be admissible, would result in a treatise, something this Court is not prepared to address, and counsel is not prepared to undertake within the limited confines of an appellate brief. The state would submit the onus is on the Appellant to show wherefor he was harmed by the giving of this limiting instruction. Even when a collateral offense is not relevant to any issue of material fact, and is inadmissible en toto, such error is harmless in the absence of a showing of prejudice by the defendant. Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (1983). Such a showing of prejudice is even more mandated in a case such as the instant one, where the issue is not even the admissibility of the testimony, but simply the giving of a jury instruction in regard to testimony that is admittedly admissible. The Appellant having made no showing of prejudice, this Court cannot presume that the Appellant was injured, especially in view of the fact

that the record does not show that the jury misconstrued the purpose of such testimony or misapplied it in arriving at a verdict. The Appellant has not only failed to show prejudice but has also failed to show that the result of this instruction was that of error. Moreover, the Appellant doth protest too much. The Appellant contends that the only independent evidence of guilt aside from his confession is his fingerprint found on a stove in the victim's bedroom (Appellant's Brief page. 7). The Appellant did not call this witness himself, but in closing argument relied on this very evidence to show lack of identity i.e. that the Appellant's print had been left in the house not at the time of the murder, but when he had previously entered the house (R 2768-2769). Clearly this evidence was relevant as to the issue of identity and the Appellant utilized it to the full extent.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE
THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AS THE
TESTIMONY WAS NOT A COMMENT UPON
APPELLANT'S EXERCISE OF HIS RIGHT
TO REMAIN SILENT AND NO CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION WAS MADE BY APPELLANT TO THE INTRODUCTION OF THIS
TESTIMONY.

The State's witness Detective Walter Perkins testified that he saw the Appellant in the office of Captain Cliff Miller, and he conducted an interview of the Appellant after first advising him of his rights, after which the Appellant indicated he understood those rights (R 2349-2351). During the course of the interview Perkins testified the Appellant stated "If I confess to this I will die in the electric chair. If I don't talk I stand a chance of living." (R 2351).

No objection was made at trial to the testimony of this witness, reflecting Appellant's statement, and thus the issue was not preserved for appeal. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). In the absence of fundamental error this court will not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982) It is the State's position that the admission of such testimony was not error and the State is in no manner or form conceding error, but should this court find error, it could not be of the magnitude that would have prevented the jury from reaching a fair and impartial verdict, so as to render the error fundamental, especially in comparison with the Appellant's damning admission to Charles Westberry that he had killed Smith which makes the

instant statement innocuous in contrast. No different result
would have been reached. See, United States v. Hastings,
____ U.S. ____, 103 S.CT. 1974 (1983); State v. Murray, 443 So.2d
955 (Fla. 1984).

Even had the defense intervened with a timely objection and motion for mistrial, this statement is not fairly susceptible to interpretation by the jury as a reference to the Appellant's exercise of his right to remain silent.

For a comment on the accused's exercise of his right to remain silent to have occurred, the accused must have actually exercised his right to remain silent. During the questioning the Appellant had disavowed any knowledge of the murder (R 547). Rather than an exercise of his right to remain silent, the denials amounted to a waiver of that right. Donovan v. State, 417 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1982); United States v. Jones, 486 F.2d 599, 600 (5th Cir. 1973). There is no requirement that there be a written or oral statement of the waiver of the right to remain silent. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 99 S.Ct. 1755, 60 L.Ed2d 286 (1979). After the Appellant made the statement in question, there was a brief conversation and the Appellant then stated that he wanted to talk to an attorney (R 547). The Appellant did not invoke his right to remain silent until well after the statement was made, and since the statement was not itself an invocation of the right to remain silent, comment upon it is not forbidden. Under the facts of this case and the context of this statement, it could even be persuasively argued the Appellant did not exercise his right to remain silent (although he did not make a full confession). See, Andrews v. State, 372 So.2d

143,151 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979). The crucial aspect of the challenged testimony is that it was not elicited to show that the Appellant did not say anything at that time. See, also, Williams v. State, 353 So.2d 588, 590 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

This issue has been conclusively determined in Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205, 1213 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied 449 U.S. 913, 101 S.Ct. 287 (1980). Upon his arrest, the defendant complained of chest pains and was taken to the hospital and placed in the coronary care unit. With the approval of the attending physician, an F.B.I. agent entered the room. The defendant did not volunteer any information, but made one statement, that he was "a hundred percent Sicilian and Sicilians do not fink." This court held:

...We find this testimony permissible as it recounted Antone's affirmative statement. In fact, Antone did not stand mute; Arwine's testimony comments not on Antone's silence but on what he said. Further, defense counsel interposed no objection at trial and, therefore, there is no fundamental constitutional error. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978)

382 So.2d at 1213.

The same considerations apply in the instant case as it is clearly within the ambit of Antone, and the same result should be reached.

Appellant's remaining arguments are conclusionary and not supported by the record or the law. Bad faith on the part of the police is not established. There is further no requirement that they record interviews with defendants. More importantly, Appellant's conclusion that the statement was obtained

in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments is one that should have been advanced below in the form of an objection to the introduction of this testimony. The issue is now waived. Clark; Castor, supra.

POINT V

THE CONVICTION FOR GRAND THEFT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED AS THE CORPUS DELICTI OF THE CRIME WAS ESTABLISHED BY EVIDENCE OTHER THAN THAT OF THE CONFESSION OF THE APPELLANT AND SUCH GROUNDS WERE NOT PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT.

The law of this State is well-settled that unless the issue of sufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict in a criminal case is first presented to the trial court by way of a motion for acquittal or motion for new trial, the issue is not reviewable on direct appeal from an adverse judgment. There is only one exception to this rule: The Supreme Court of Florida in a capital case in which the death sentence has been imposed is empowered to make an independent review of the record to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to support the verdict regardless of whether the issue was presented to the trial court by proper motion. Tibbs v. State, 337 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1976); State v. Barber, 307 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974); Mancini v. State, 273 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1973); §921.141(4), Fla.Stat. (1975). However, second degree grand theft, being a non-capital offense, no independent review of the record to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to support the verdict is required, if the issue is not first presented to the trial court by proper See Sundell v. State, 354 So.2d 409 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). motion.

In the instant case, the motion for a new trial did not raise the issue now appealed (R700-704). The motion for judg-

ment of acquittal made at trial was later renewed, but was in essence a factless recapitulation of the previous motion. (R 705) At trial the defense made a motion for judgment of acquittal but only because he felt compelled to do so and stated on the record that counsel did not feel optimistic about how the court would rule on the motion for judgment of acquittal (R-2405). Counsel did not raise the issue that aside from Charles Westberry's account of Appellant's confession to the crime of theft there was no proof to establish the taking of property of Smith. Counsel chose not to point out inconsistencies between Westberry's testimony and the testimony of other witnesses, preferring to point out such inconsistencies in final argument (R-2405). Nor did counsel argue that this confession was the only evidence of the crime but argued instead, that the fingerprint on the stove was not credible evidence (R-2403). Counsel, in essence, did not argue the "lack" of necessary evidence, but only the inadequacy of the evidence adduced and argued no specifics or facts in regard to the crime of second degree grand theft (R-2402-2407). In view of this, the State would submit that this Court need not address the issue on appeal.

The weight of the evidence is a determination of the trier of fact that the greater amount of credible evidence supports the one side of the issue or cause than the other.

A finding that the verdict is against the weight of the evidence is not a finding that the evidence is legally insufficient. An

appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to the jury but, rather, its concern on appeal must be whether, after all the conflicts in evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Tibbs v State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). The evidence in the instant case was legally sufficient to support the verdict and the instant conviction should not be disturbed on appeal.

Aside from Charles Westberry's account of the appellant's confession to the crime of theft there was substantial evidence to establish the taking of the property of Lima Paige After first confessing to Westberry, the Appellant, while seated in Westberry's pick-up truck produced two hundred and ninty some odd dollars and gave most of it to Westberry (R-2138). This occurred on the eve of the murder. Although the Appellant claimed to have been playing cards that evening, raising an inference that whatever money he had the night of the murder may have been obtained by winning at a card game, Kenneth Westberry testified that they had played a poker game for nickels, dimes and quarters for a period of approximately three hours, and although the Appellant was winning, considering the amount of the pot, it was Westberry's belief that the winner would have won approximately twenty to thirty dollars (R 1869). In January of 1983, the Appellant worked for Terry Geck only part-time (R-1894). Prior to the murder, the Appellant had stated to William Barkley

that "It's about time for the old lady to die." (R-2378).

Barkley also testified that the defendant stated that "there would probably be money in the house between all the papers and stuff" (R-2378). The Appellant had previously been in the house with Paul House and looked around and got change out the garbage (R-2391). Further, a fingerprint was found on a stove in the victim's house belonging to the Appellant (R-2039).

The State would conclude that aside from Appellant's confession, there was competent and substantial independent proof of the crime and the conviction of second degree grand theft should not be reversed on appeal.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT A PALPABLE ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE LAW GOVERNING CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND DID NOT ERR IN RESTRICTING FINAL ARGUMENT OF DEFENSE COUNSEL CONCERNING SUCH LAW.

Formerly, an instruction on circumstantial evidence was required where the prosecutor relied solely or substantially on circumstantial evidence to prove the essential elements of the crime charged. Perez v. State, 371 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). In In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1981) this Court explicitly stated that the circumstantial evidence instruction is now unnecessary because the instructions on reasonable doubt and burden of proof are sufficient to properly instruct the jury and a separate instruction solely on circumstantial evidence would be duplicative. This Court noted, however, that "the elimination of the current standard instruction on circumstantial evidence does not totally prohibit such an instruction if a trial judge, in his or her discretion, feels that such is necessary under the peculiar facts of a specific case." 431 So. 2d at 595.

The action of the lower court should not be disturbed on appeal unless a palpable abuse of discretion is clearly shown from the record. The Appellant has not shown the trial judge's action to be abusive of his discretion. The State's case <u>subjudice</u> consists of no more reliance on circumstantial evidence than did the cases of <u>Williams v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1983),

Rembert v. State, 445 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1984) and White v. State, 446 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 1984) where this Court refused to find abuses of discretion.

Even if an abuse of discretion could be demonstrated, the error must be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as instructions on reasonable doubt and burden of proof were given and the circumstantial evidence instruction is merely duplicative of those. In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1981); White v. State, 446 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 1984) (R 2871, 2874, 2875, 2878, 2880-2881).

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